
IN THE STATE OF INDIANA

MARION COUNTY SUPERIOR COURT

Steve Ankeny and Bill Kruse,

Plaintiffs,
vs.

GOVERNOR OF THE STATE OF INDIANA
Democratic National Committee, Barack Obama
Republican National Committee, John McCain

Defendants

)
)
)
)
)
)
)
)
)
)
)
)

Case No.  49D10-0812-PL-055511

PLAINTIFFS' OPPOSITION TO GOVERNOR’S MOTION TO DISMISS

Plaintiffs'  Complaint  seeks  adjudication  of  the  issues  therein,  as  the  State  of 

Indiana has exercised its Power to appoint Presidential and Vice Presidential electors in a 

manner that violates both Article II, Section 1, Clause 2 and Clause 5.  The Certificate of 

Ascertainment, and each certification flowing logically from that false certification, was 

certified to be true when it was not true in light of Article II, Section 1, Clauses 2 and 5.

Plaintiffs are challenging the Certificate of Ascertainment as false.  How can a 

false certificate be adjudicated legally valid or fulfill the requirements of certification?

Counsel for the Governor raises three reasons why Plaintiffs' Complaint should be 

dismissed under the Indiana Rules of Trial Procedure 12(B)(1), lack of jurisdiction over 

the subject matter, and 12(B)(6), failure to state a claim upon which relief can be granted.

Each such reason should be rejected by this Court.
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The three reasons given by Counsel for the Governor are as follows:

1. This Court cannot provide the relief requested by the Plaintiffs because this action 

is moot.

2. The Plaintiffs have failed to state a claim upon which relief can be granted.

3. The Plaintiffs are barred from bringing this action under the doctrine of laches.

Plaintiffs will address each reason in turn and why it must be rejected.

BACKGROUND

Plaintiffs bring their Complaint challenging the “certification” of the Governor, as 

derived  from  the  election  of  Electors,  dated  November  4,  2008.   Plaintiffs  seek  to 

permanently enjoin the Governor of the State of Indiana and/or his delegate, including 

any other Presidential Election Officials, (1) from signing and issuing a “Certificate of 

Ascertainment,” or any other document, to Congress of the United States containing any 

popular votes for Barack Obama and Joe Biden for an appointment as Chief Electors, or 

(2) from signing and issuing a “Certificate of Ascertainment,” or any other document, to 

Congress of the United States containing any popular votes for John McCain and Sarah 

Palin for an appointment of Electors; and (3) declaring void and in violation of Article II, 

Section  1,  Clause  2,  any  vote  cast  on  or  before  November  4,  2008,  involving  the 

appointment of Electors for the State of Indiana, because Barack Obama was a sitting 

Senator and not eligible to appear on the ballot for the appointment of Electors, as this 

was unconstitutional;  and (4) declaring void and in violation of Article II,  Section 1, 

Clause 2, any vote cast on or before November 4, 2008, involving the appointment of 
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Electors for the State of Indiana, because John McCain was a sitting Senator and not 

eligible  to  appear  on  the  ballot  for  the  appointment  of  Electors,  as  this  was 

unconstitutional; (5) and issuing an order directing the Governor of the State of Indiana 

that neither Barack Obama nor John McCain are or were eligible to be appointed to the 

Office of Elector, because they both held the Office of United States Senator at the time 

of the Title 3, United States Code, § 1 appointment of Electors held on November 4, 

2008, and thus neither of them are or were eligible to be appointed on November 4, 2008, 

to the Office of Elector for the State of Indiana; and (6) neither Barack Obama or John 

McCain qualify or are considered to meet the qualification of “natural born” mandated 

under Article II, Section 1, Clause 5, in the agreement between the People of the State of 

Indiana, and its compact with the other 49 States of the Union, known as the Constitution 

for the United States of America, (“Constitution” or “Constitution of the United States”).

FACTS NOT IN DISPUTE

Plaintiffs are “Citizens of the State of Indiana.”  Barack Obama was not and is not 

a “natural born” person, as that phrase is enumerated and then reserved under Article II, 

Section 1, Clause 5, of the Constitution of the United States.  John McCain was not and is 

not considered a “natural born” person, as that phrase is enumerated and then reserved 

under Article II, Section 1, Clause 5, of the Constitution of the United States.  Plaintiffs 

do not challenge whether Joe Biden or Sarah Palin were “natural born” persons in one of 

the 50 States at a time when those places were Article IV States of the Union.

The only names the State of Indiana gave its People to select for the Office of 
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Elector were Barack Obama and John McCain for President, and Joe Biden and Sarah 

Palin for Vice President.  The “general election” is in substance an election for the Office 

of  Presidential  and  Vice  Presidential  Electors.   None of  the  names appearing  on  the 

December 15, 2008, Elector Vote, cast in the State of Indiana, were names that appeared 

on the November 4, 2008, “general election” ballot, or election for the Office of Electors.

As  to  the  Office  of  Vice  President,  Plaintiffs  contend that  Joe  Biden was  not 

eligible to appear on the ballot for the State of Indiana “general election” for the Office of 

Elector,  involving Vice Presidential  Electors,  because  he  was a sitting Senator  of the 

United States on that date.  Joe Biden resigned the Office of Senator on January 9, 2009, 

effective January 15, 2009.  See http://washingtonindependent.com/24738/biden-resigns-

from-senate.  Barack Obama announced on November 13, 2008, that he would resign the 

Office of Senator, effective on Sunday, November 16, 2008.  See http://www.reuters.com/

article/joeBiden/idUSTRE4AC7V620081113.  John McCain has not as of yet resigned 

his Senate Seat and remains a sitting United States Senator from the State of Arizona.

AUTHORITY

“The individual citizen has no federal constitutional right to vote for electors for 

the President of the United States unless and until the state legislature chooses a statewide 

election as the means to implement its power to appoint members of the electoral college. 

U.S. Const., Art. II, § 1.  This is the source for the statement in  McPherson v. Blacker, 

146  U.S.  1,  35  (1892),  that  the  state  legislature's  power  to  select  the  manner  for 

appointing electors is plenary; it may, if it so chooses, select the electors itself, which 
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indeed was the manner used by state legislatures in several States for many years after the 

framing of our Constitution.  Id., at 28-33.  History has now favored the voter, and in 

each of the several States the citizens themselves vote for Presidential electors.  When 

the state legislature vests the right to vote for President in its people, the right to vote as 

the legislature has prescribed is fundamental; and one source of its fundamental nature 

lies in the equal weight accorded to each vote and the equal dignity owed to each voter. 

Bush v. Gore, 531 U.S. 98, 104 (2000)  (Emphasis added.)

In regard to constitutional provisions for voting, “Under these broad provisions, it 

has been frequently held to be the exclusive province of the legislature to enact laws 

providing for the registration of voters, and the time, place, and manner of conducting 

elections.   [**34]  It  may regulate,  but cannot destroy, the enjoyment of the elective 

franchise.   Whether  such regulations  [*653] be  reasonable  or  unreasonable  is  for  the 

determination of the legislature, and not for the courts, so long as such regulation does 

not become destruction.  Attorney General v. City of Detroit, 44 N.W. Rep. 388.”  Nelson,  

et al. v. Miller, 170 F.3d 641, 652-653 (6th Cir. 1999).

"Ballot access statutes are not susceptible of easy analysis, nor is the appropriate 

standard of review always easy [**8] to discern."  McLain v. Meier, 637 F.2d 1159, 1163 

(8th Cir.  1980).   Analysis  must begin with the text of the Constitution of the United 

States, which governs Presidential elections in Article II, Section 1, Clause 2:

Each State shall appoint, in such Manner as the Legislature thereof may 
direct, a Number of Electors, equal to the whole Number of Senators and 
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Representatives to which the State may be entitled in the Congress: but no 
Senator or Representative, or Person holding an Office of Trust or Profit 
under the United States, shall be appointed an Elector.

The Supreme Court observed in McPherson v. Blacker, 146 U.S. 1, 27, 13 S.Ct. 3, 

7,  36  L.Ed.  869  (1892),  “It  has  been  said  that  the  word  'appoint'  is  not  the  most 

appropriate  word  to  describe  the  result  of  a  popular  election.   Perhaps  not;  but  it  is 

sufficiently  comprehensive  to  cover  that  mode,  and  was  manifestly  used  as  [**8] 

conveying the broadest power of determination.”  The Court stated earlier:

[T]he appointment and mode of appointment of electors belong exclusively 
to the states under the Constitution of the United States. . . . Congress is 
empowered to determine the time of choosing the electors and the day on 
which they are to give their votes, which is required to be the same day 
throughout the United States, but otherwise the power and jurisdiction of 
the State is exclusive, with the exception of the provisions as to the number 
of  electors  and  the  ineligibility  of  certain  persons,  so  framed  that 
congressional and Federal influence might be excluded.  Id. at 35-36.

The only limitation on the States' Power to appoint Presidential Electors is that the 

Power may not be exercised in a way that violates “express constitutional commands.” 

Williams v. Rhodes, 393 U.S. 23, 29, 89 S.Ct. 5, 9, 21 L.Ed.2d 24 (1968).  And, “With the 

power  to  appoint  presidential  electors  came  corresponding  state  responsibility  for 

elections.”  Anderson v. Celebrezze, 664 F.2d 554 (6th Cir. 1981).

That the “general election” is in substance an election for the Office of Presidential 

and  Vice  Presidential  Electors  is  confirmed  by  the  Supreme Court  of  Indiana,  in  its 

discussion of the number of votes cast for “presidential electors,” citing, In the Matter of  
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the Petition of Denny for Admission to Practice Law, 156 Ind. 104; 59 N.E. 359 (1901), 

Simmons v. Byrd, et al., 192 Ind. 274; 136 N.E. 14 (1922) and Palmer v. State of Indiana, 

197 Ind. 625; 150 N.E. 917 (1926).

This last dealt with “granting women the right to vote for presidential electors.” 

That these cases speak of the “general election” is further seen by their discussion of the 

number of votes cast for “presidential electors” and the number for various amendments. 

Simmons v.  Byrd even speaks  of  the  “office  of  presidential  electors”  in  terms of  the 

number of votes cast in the “general election.”  No cases appear to disagree since.

Counsel for the Governor appears to agree the substance of the “general election” 

is that of the election of electors by saying, “On Election Day the voters are actually 

voting for the slate of electors (rather than the party's presidential and vice presidential 

candidates).  Ind. Code § 3-10-4-4.  The presidential electors who receive the most votes 

in Indiana at the presidential election are then certified as the official presidential electors 

for the state.”  Memo. at 2.  And, again, Counsel for the Governor agrees that “no Senator 

or Representative, or Person holding an Office of Trust or Profit under the United States, 

shall be appointed an Elector.”  Ibid.

However, Counsel for the Governor would have this Court believe the People of 

the State of  Indiana do NOT actually  vote for  “presidential  electors,”  rather,  “[E]ach 

political  party  nominated  eleven  individuals  who  pledged  to  support  their  party's 

candidates in the 2008 presidential election.”  Ibid.  Such a conclusion disagrees not only 
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with the Constitution of the United States, in chusing the Day of the “general election,”1 

but  the  Supreme  Court  of  the  United  States,  in  “the  citizens  themselves  vote  for 

Presidential electors,2 and the Supreme Court for the State of Indiana, in the cases cited.

The only names on the ballot at the “general election,” which in substance is the 

“election  of  electors,”  were  the  names  of  Barack  Obama  and  John  McCain  for 

Presidential Electors and Joe Biden and Sarah Palin for Vice Presidential Electors.

In  the  instant  case,  the  State  of  Indiana  has  exercised  its  Power  to  appoint 

Presidential Electors in a manner that violates both Article II, Section 1, Clause 2, in the 

“sitting Senator” clause, and Article II, Section 1, Clause 5, in the “natural born” clause.

ARGUMENT

I. Whether the issues raised by Plaintiffs' in their Complaint are moot.

For the purpose of the Governor’s Motion to Dismiss, this Court “must accept as 

true all of the factual allegations contained in the complaint.”  See Leatherman v. Tarrant  

County Narcotics Intelligence and Coordination Unit, 507 U.S. 163, 164 (1993).

The issues raised in Plaintiffs' Complaint are NOT moot by the certification made 

by the Governor.  In fact, until the certification was signed and issued by the Governor, 

there was no mechanism for any person in the State of Indiana to raise any legal claim 

objecting to the facts certified by the Certificate of Ascertainment.  How can a Citizen file 

any objection to a false certification if the challenge to the certification is considered 

1  See Article II, Section 1, Clause 4, “The Congress may determine the Time of chusing 
the Electors, and the Day on which they shall give their Votes; which Day shall be the same 
throughout the United States.”  This speaks of the “general election” as the chusing of Electors.

2  See Bush v. Gore at 104.
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mooted because the certification was signed, issued and relied upon?

The Governor does not cite one case where his suggested proposition is the law of 

the land, but rather, relies upon, “[a] case is moot when no effective relief can be rendered 

to the parties before the court,”3 and “When the concrete controversy at issue in a case 

'has been ended or settled, or in some manner disposed of ..'”4  Memo. at 6.

Black's  Law Dictionary,  6th Edition,  defines  the  term,  “Certification,”  as,  “the 

formal assertion in writing of some fact.”  Black's also directs to the term, “attestation,” 

which is defined as, “subscribing the name of the witness in testimony of such fact.”

The issues raised by Plaintiffs in their Complaint are also NOT moot by reason of 

the fact Plaintiffs are challenging the Certificate of Ascertainment as false and invalid.

There are two exceptions to the doctrine of mootness.   “A case is  moot when 

events subsequent to the commencement of a lawsuit create a situation in which the court 

can no longer give the plaintiff meaningful relief.”  Jews for Jesus, Inc. v. Hillsborough 

County Aviation Authority, 162 F.3d 627, 629 (11th Cir. 1998). 

One  exception  to  the  mootness  doctrine  arises  when  a  claim  is,  “capable  of 

repetition yet evading review.”  Teper, et al. v. Miller, 82 F.3d 989, 992 n.1 (11th Cir. 

1996).  As the Panel continued, “This exception applies under two conditions: '(1) the 

challenged action was in its duration too short to be fully litigated prior to its cessation or 

expiration, and (2) there was a reasonable expectation that the same complaining party 

would be subjected to the same action again.'  Weinstein v. Bradford, 423 U.S. 147, 96 

3  Citing State ex rel. Indiana State Bar Ass'n v. Northouse, 848 N.E.2d 668, 673 (2006).
4  Citing In re Lawrance, 579 N.E.2d 32, 37 (1991).
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S.Ct. 347, 348, 46 L.Ed. 2D 350 (1975) (per curiam).”  Ibid.

In the instant case, Counsel for the Governor argues, “[T]his case is moot because 

there is no longer a live controversy.”  Memo. at 7.  Counsel argues no time remains to 

challenge the action of certification, because the acts have “already been accomplished.”

However, such a challenge by a person appointed to chuse “electors,” as Plaintiffs, 

could not have occurred until AFTER the “certification” was signed and issued, and by 

Counsel's own admission, the Certificate of Ascertainment was signed, and three copies 

were sent to the National Archives in Washington, D.C., BEFORE December 15, 2008. 

Memo. at 3.  The Governor does not identify the exact day when certification occurred.

And, Counsel for the Governor added to Plaintiffs' time to challenge by seeking an 

“Automatic Extension of Time to Answer” on December 16, 2008.

The Governor’s claim shows that the time to challenge was clearly too short to be 

fully litigated prior to the result of the Governor’s conduct in signing and issuing the 

certification.  Such an event is clearly “capable of repetition but evading review.”

The Governor identifies December 15, 2008, as the last day under consideration in 

regard to the Certificate of Ascertainment, as all events in regard to said certificate were 

completed  by  that  date.   Clearly,  the  certificate  was  not  signed the  day  AFTER the 

“general election” on November 4 but sometime BEFORE December 15, making a total 

of forty (40) days in which Plaintiffs had any opportunity to challenge certification.

The time to challenge was too short to be fully litigated within the time period, and 

Plaintiffs had no knowledge of the actual date the Certificate of Ascertainment would be 
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signed and issued in order to plan their challenge within any sort of time constraints.

It  is  obvious had the Plaintiffs brought an action BEFORE the election on the 

supposition that Barack Obama, John McCain and Joe Biden were not going to resign the 

Office  of  Senator  before  November  4,  2008,  Counsel  for  the  Governor  would  have 

argued ripeness.  Now, Counsel argues nootness.  The entire scheme is to prevent any 

meaningful challenge from taking place.  It could not have been brought until AFTER 

November 4, 2008, and it could not have been brought until AFTER the Certificate of 

Ascertainment had been signed and issued.  If relief cannot be granted, Counsel for the 

Governor is saying the “general election” on November 4, 2008, was meaningless.

The  second test  for  exception  to  mootness  is  no  doubt  satisfied  by  Plaintiffs. 

Plaintiffs must show “(2) there was a reasonable expectation that the same complaining 

party  would be subjected to the same action again.”  Plaintiffs  will  no doubt remain 

legislated to elect electors in the next “general election” four years hence.  The federal 

and State statutes at issue renew every four years.  The Office of Governor would no 

doubt make the same mistakes in four years and argue the same doctrine of mootness.

Because the certification at issue encompasses three sitting United States Senators, 

all of whom were named on the ballot for the Election of Electors on November 4, 2008, 

and because they did not resign their Office of Senator prior to their appointment to the 

Office  of  Elector,  the  chance of  another  United States  Senator  seeking  the  Office  of 

President  while  remaining  a  Senator  and  having  their  name on the  Elector  ballot,  is 

beyond question.  John Kerry in 2004 was a United States Senator.  Robert Dole in 1996 

Page 11 of 19



was a United States Senator.  And, John Kennedy in 1960 was a United States Senator.

The list could be exhaustive both in the past and in the potential future.

The other issue central to this case is whether Barack Obama and John McCain 

were eligible for the Office of President based upon where they were born.  The chance 

of  some other  person seeking the Office  of  President  in  the same manner  as  Barack 

Obama and John McCain has the likelihood of happening over and over every four years 

unless this Court addresses the issues herein.  In fact, the Governor is asking People to 

bring action before the violation occurs in four years while ignoring that it just occurred.

To subscribe to the Governor’s dismissal claims would place the People nominated 

by the State of Indiana to chuse Electors to the status of meaningless and would deny 

those People directed to pick Electors, as on November 4, 2008, their legislative right to 

chuse from persons qualified to hold the Office of President.

In  the  instant  case,  both  Barack  Obama,  John  McCain  and  Joe  Biden  are 

disqualified from holding the Office of President under Article II, Section 1, Clause 2, 

and Barack Obama and John McCain are prohibited from holding the Office of President 

pursuant to Article II, Section 1, Clause 5.  The issues are NOT moot and can never be.

II. Whether Plaintiffs fail to state a claim upon which relief can be granted.

Notice again, that Counsel for the Governor appears to agree the substance of the 

“general election” is that of the election of electors by saying, “On Election Day the 

voters are  actually voting for the slate of electors (rather than the party's presidential 

and vice presidential candidates).  Ind. Code § 3-10-4-4.  The presidential electors who 
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receive the most votes in Indiana at the presidential election are then certified as the 

official presidential electors for the state.”  Memo. at 2.  (Emphasis added.)

The meaning and logical outcome of that second sentence makes Plaintiffs' case.

“On Election Day,” also known as the “general election,” “the voters” (by voting 

for the names of candidates on the ballot) “are actually voting for a slate of electors.”

That statement, while in total agreement with both Article II, Section 1, Clause 2, 

of the Constitution of the United States, and Indiana Code § 3-10-4-4, also tells us that 

the names of candidates on the ballot are actually being elected to the Office of Elector.

And, “[T]he presidential electors” (or the names of candidates on the ballot) “who 

receive the most votes in Indiana” (the names of candidates who receive the most votes) 

“at the presidential election” (or the “general election”) “are then certified as the official 

presidential electors for the state” (the names of candidates who receive the most votes at 

the “general election” are certified as the official presidential electors for the state).

The meaning and logical outcome of that statement makes Plaintiffs' case.

That statement tells us that the names of candidates on the ballot who receive the 

most votes on Election Day are actually being elected to the Office of Elector.

As Barack Obama was the name of the presidential candidate who received the 

most votes in Indiana on Election Day, he was actually elected to the Office of Elector, 

and as Joe Biden was the name of the vice presidential candidate who received the most 

votes in Indiana on Election Day, he also was actually elected to the Office of Elector.

And, since, Counsel agrees that “no Senator or Representative, or Person holding 
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an Office of Trust or Profit under the United States, shall be appointed an Elector,” Ibid. 

neither Barack Obama nor Joe Biden were eligible to be elected to the Office of Elector.

Counsel argues that Plaintiffs fail to state a claim upon which relief can be granted 

but admits therewith the Certificate of Ascertainment is plainly a false certification.

Plaintiffs are legislated by the State of Indiana to chuse Electors but are prevented 

from satisfying that duty in accord with the Constitution of the United States when the 

Governor of the State refuses to “police the ballot” to ensure compliance with Article II, 

Section 1, Clauses 2 and 5.  Any chusing by Plaintiffs is rendered meaningless.

A false Certificate of Ascertainment places in the hands of the Governor the Power 

to pick who will hold the Office of Elector and takes from Plaintiffs any reserved Power.

Amendment IX of the Constitution for the United States of America states:

The enumeration in the Constitution, of certain rights, shall not be construed to  
deny or disparage others retained by the people.

Amendment X of the Constitution for the United States of America states:

The powers not delegated to the United States by the Constitution, nor prohibited 
by it to the States, are reserved to the States respectively, or to the people.

Plaintiffs have reserved Power under Amendments IX and X to enforce their right 

to vote for a person that meets the eligibility requirements at Article II, Section 1, Clauses 

2 and 5, and any false Certificate of Ascertainment renders that Power meaningless.

If relief cannot be granted, any chusing by Plaintiffs is rendered meaningless.

The limitation on the Governor's Power is not to exercise it in a way that violates 

“express constitutional commands,” as a false Certificate of Ascertainment would do.
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Plaintiffs are asking this Court  to agree with the Supreme Court of the United 

States in Bush v. Gore that “the citizens themselves vote for Presidential electors.”

Plaintiffs are asking this Court to agree with Article II, Section 1, Clauses 2 and 4, 

that the substance of the “general election” is “the Time of chusing the Electors.”  N.1

Plaintiffs are asking this Court to agree with Article II, Section 1, Clause 2, and the 

Governor, that “no Senator or Representative” was eligible on November 4, 2008, to be 

elected to the Office of Elector, including Barack Obama, John McCain and Joe Biden.

Plaintiffs are asking this Court to agree with Article II, Section 1, Clause 5, that 

“No Person except a natural born Citizen” was eligible on November 4, 2008, to be 

elected to the Office of President Elector, including Barack Obama and John McCain.

Plaintiffs are also asking this Court to direct the Governor of the State of Indiana 

to “decertify” the false Certificate of Ascertainment and sign and issue a true Certificate.

Plaintiffs are asking this Court to direct that in all future elections all candidates 

for whatever office nominated would be required to prove eligibility for the office.

Counsel  argues  that  Plaintiffs  failed to state a  claim upon which relief can be 

grant, but if relief cannot be granted, a false Certificate of Ascertainment stands.

Plaintiffs have plainly stated claims this Court is empowered to grant.

Counsel for the Governor argues that Plaintiffs failed to state a claim upon which 

relief can be granted by not filing their Complaint prior to December 9, 2008.  However, 

Plaintiffs could not have known whether any other cases pending, on issues not related to 

Plaintiffs' claims, would have been decided by the Supreme Court of the United States, 
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and whether such decisions impacted Plaintiffs' Complaint and rendered it unnecessary.

Plaintiffs also could not have known whether Barack Obama, John McCain or Joe 

Biden would resign their Office of Senator, or remain while being elected to the Office of 

Elector in the “general election,” and what impact that would have on their Complaint.

Plaintiffs also could not have known the exact date the Governor of the State of 

Indiana would sign and issue a false Certificate of Ascertainment requiring challenge, 

and that any challenge would be required AFTER its signing and issuance.

Plaintiffs do not challenge for a recount of the votes for electors, under the six-day 

limitation, but whether the Certificate of Ascertainment is false or “certifies” the election, 

and the unknown date of signing clearly shows the time to fully litigate was too short.

Counsel suggests that the Plaintiffs are arguing for a “change in the outcome of the 

last Presidential election,” Memo. at 7, and cites Robinson v. Bowen, 567 F.Supp.2d 1144, 

1148 (N.D.Cal. 2008), to say, “[t]he members of the Senate and House of Representatives 

are  well  qualified  to  adjudicate  any  objections  to  ballots  for  allegedly  unqualified 

candidates,” Id. at 10, ignoring the fact the Certificate of Ascertainment is false.

Counsel also ignores the fact three sitting Senators were involved in the election 

and involved in the false Certificate of Ascertainment, signed and issued by the Governor. 

Does it make sense that members of the Senate and House would rule against their own?

Counsel for the Governor also argues that Plaintiffs do not have a “private cause of 

action,” Memo. at 8, but ignores Plaintiffs' reserved Power under Amendments IX and X 

to enforce their right to vote for a person that meets the eligibility requirements and the 
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impact of any false Certificate of Ascertainment in rendering their chusing meaningless.

Plaintiffs are plainly stating claims this Court is empowered to grant.

III. Whether Plaintiffs are barred by the doctrine of laches.

For all the reasons stated before, Plaintiffs' Complaint should not be dismissed, 

and while Counsel argues that, “It is painfully obvious this case should have been brought 

months ago,” Memo. at 11, it is just as obvious that, “Several cases filed in courts around 

the country involving issues nearly identical to the matter at hand5 were all  concluded 

months ago.”  Id. at 11-12.  On the one hand, Counsel wants Plaintiffs' Complaint to go 

away, because it should have been filed months ago, but on the other admits that “other” 

cases were concluded months ago!  Where and when could Plaintiffs receive remedy?

Dismissing Plaintiffs' Complaint on the doctrine of laches ignores the fact the time 

to challenge was clearly too short to be fully litigated prior to the result of the Governor’s 

conduct in signing and issuing the false Certificate of Ascertainment.

Dismissing on laches also ignores the fact such an event is clearly “capable of 

repetition but evading review,” and Plaintiffs are left with no time for remedy.

Counsel for the Governor argues the Plaintiffs' delay in bringing their Complaint 

“causes prejudice and injury to the Defendants,” Memo. at 10, but nothing is said of the 

“prejudice and injury” a false Certificate of Ascertainment causes the Plaintiffs and all 

like-minded Citizens of the State of Indiana.  Laches does not apply, as Plaintiffs brought 

5  While Counsel for the Governor considers the issues “nearly identical to the matter at 
hand,” it's painfully obvious the issues are strikingly different, as no other case has raised the 
issues at Article II, Section 1, Clause 2, in regard to the Office of Senator.
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valid claims with standing and subject-matter jurisdiction, and did not wait too long.

CONCLUSION

This Court should deny the Motion to Dismiss filed by Counsel for the Governor.

This Court should direct an order that, “citizens themselves vote for Presidential 

electors,”  that,  the  substance  of  the  “general  election”  is  “the  Time  of  chusing  the 

Electors,” that, “no Senator or Representative” was eligible on November 4, 2008, to be 

elected to the Office of Elector, including Barack Obama, John McCain and Joe Biden, 

that, “No Person except a natural born Citizen” was eligible on November 4, 2008, to be 

elected to the Office of President Elector, including Barack Obama and John McCain, 

and that, the Governor signed and issued a false Certificate of Ascertainment.

This Court should find that the issues raised in Plaintiffs' Complaint fall within the 

exceptions to the doctrine of mootness and laches and should proceed to trial by jury.

The Constitution of the United States, the Public and Plaintiffs demand it.

Respectfully submitted,

Dated this         day of February, 2009

____________________________ ____________________________
Steve Ankeny Bill Kruse
1622 H Avenue General Delivery
New Castle, State of Indiana Roselawn, State of Indiana
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CERTIFICATE OF SERVICE

The undersigned hereby certifies that on February         , 2009, a copy of this 

Opposition to the Governor's Motion to Dismiss was served on Counsel for the Governor 

by first class mail to the following address:

Gary W. Bippus, Deputy Attorney General
Indiana Government Center South, Fifth Floor
302 West Washington Street
Indianapolis, IN 46204-2770

____________________________
Steve Ankeny
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